1940

M. E. Hamilton v. Salt Lake City : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 23, 1938, appellant, a woman 75 years of age, while walking upon the public sidewalk on the south side of Second South Street, near No. 114 East Second South in Salt Lake City, Utah, caught her foot in a hole which existed in the sidewalk at that time and place

(Tr. 26, 30, 35, 41, 47). As a result

he fell and broke her right ankle (Tr. 28, 29, 7, Ab. 10, 16). The hole in which appellant fell is situated upon a line about 12 or 14 inches wide, marked on each side by a seam in the pavement, and running northerly and southerly across the sidewalk from an outlet or water drain at the curb on the north to a manhole on the south. This manhole has "The City Engineer" marked on it (Tr. 39, 40, 41, Ab. 17, 18).

On April 12, 1938, appellant presented the following claim in writing, signed by her, to the City Commission of Salt Lake City:

Salt Lake City, Utah

April 13, 1938

Honorable Board of City Commissioners

City and County Building

Salt Lake City, Utah

Gentlemen:

On March 23d at 8:30 AM while walking just west of 114 East End South, through a defect in the sidewalk at that location I was injured by falling and having certain ~~damages~~ ~~fractures~~ ~~made~~ my ankle to

such an extent that I have had to have
same in a cast, and move about on crutches
since said injury. In view of the fact,
that since said date I have been confined
at my residence and have suffered extreme
pain I feel that I should be compensated
for such injury to the extent of not less
than \$500.

Respectfully submitted for
your immediate consideration,

(Signed) Mrs. M. E. Hamilton

(Tr. 31, 42, 43, 44, 45, 49, Ab. 11, 19, 20, 21, 24, 25).

This document was designated by the City
Commission "Petition No. 292, 1933," and referred
to the Department of Public Affairs and Finance
of Salt Lake City (Tr. 42, 43, 45, Ab. 19).
Appellant did not thereafter nor at any other
time receive any payment from respondent on
account of her injury (Tr. 32, 35, Ab. 12).
Consequently, on March 17, 1933, she commenced
this action against the respondent (Tr. 1-3,
Ab. 1-5). A demurrer interposed by the respon-
dent on the ground that the complaint did not
state facts sufficient to constitute a cause
of a
the Court (Tr. 6, 9,

Ab. 5-7). In her Complaint, appellant prayed judgment for \$2500.00, a sum in excess of that demanded by her in the written claim presented to the City Commission (Tr. 3, Ab. 5).

At the trial of the case on September 11, 1930, before the Court, sitting with a jury, the testimony of appellant and one other witness, William Perry Sturges, was adduced in appellant's behalf and the parties entered into a stipulation regarding testimony of the City Clerk or Recorder of Salt Lake City. No evidence for the respondent was offered or introduced (Tr. 28-43, 45, Ab. 8-19). In addition to the facts above stated, which stand uncontradicted in the record, appellant offered certain other testimony essential to her right of recovery, which was excluded by the Court. These matters are set forth in the Statement of Error hereafter. At the conclusion of appellant's evidence, the Court granted respondent's motion for a directed verdict on the ground that the appellant "did not file a claim which is required by law she must file before she can maintain an action against Salt Lake City" (Tr. 45, 46, Ab. 21, 22).

Judgment was entered on the directed verdict for the respondent and appellant takes this appeal from said judgment (Tr. 21, 23, Ab. 28, 29, 30).

STATEMENT OF ERROR

The following errors upon which appellant relies for a reversal of the judgment of the court below were committed by said Court at the trial of the case:

1. The Court struck from the record the testimony of appellant that subsequent to the filing of her claim, Mr. Irvine, the respondent's attorney, offered her \$25.00 to settle the case. Said testimony was given in response to the question whether appellant had ever been notified that her claim was allowed (Tr. 32, Ab. 11, 12, 30).

2. The Court struck from the record the testimony of appellant that she was never notified by the respondent that her claim was not in proper legal form (Tr. 33, 34, Ab. 12, 13, 14, 30).

3. The Court refused to permit appellant to testify whether anyone had ever requested her

to amend or correct her claim (Tr. 34, Ab. 14, 10).

4. The Court refused to permit appellant to testify whether she had suffered any pain or disability on account of her injury since the filing of her said claim with the City Commission (Tr. 34, 35, Ab. 14, 15, 30, 31).

5. The Court refused to permit appellant to testify regarding her reason for claiming damages in her Complaint in excess of the amount requested by her in her said claim filed with the City Commission (Tr. 35, Ab. 15, 16, 31).

6. The Court refused to permit appellant's witness, William Perry Sturges, to testify whether the sidewalk at the point where appellant's injury occurred was free from cracks and irregularities (Tr. 42, Ab. 18, 31).

7. The Court concluded, and stated its conclusion to the jury, that the appellant did not file a claim which is required by law to be filed before she can maintain an action against Salt Lake City (Tr. 45, Ab. 31, 31).

8. The Court directed the jury to return a verdict in favor of the respondent and against

be appellant (Tr. 45, 46, Ab. 21, 22, 31, 32).

9. The Court entered judgment in favor of the respondent and against the appellant, no cause of action (Tr. 31, Ab. 26, 27, 32).

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS INVOLVED

The general question is, of course, whether the facts proved or offered to be proved made a case for the jury, and so whether the Court erred in directing a verdict for respondent. Respondent's motion for a directed verdict was made upon three grounds as follows:

1. That from all of the evidence and from the pleadings it does not appear that there is a cause of action against Salt Lake City;

2. That there has not been established by the evidence any negligence on the part of Salt Lake City;

3. That it does not appear from the evidence that a claim in the form required by Section 15-7-76, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, was filed with Salt Lake City, the defendant, within the time and in the manner required by the provisions of said statute, and, therefore, the alleged action of the plaintiff is barred by

provisions of Section 15-7-76 and 15-7-77, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933.

It cannot be seriously urged upon appeal by respondent that the first two grounds of its motion will sustain the Court's order granting a directed verdict, (although these grounds will be considered briefly hereafter) for the reason that respondent did not argue these two grounds at the trial or call the Court's attention to any of the alleged defects in the pleadings or the evidence, and for the further reason that the court, in announcing its decision from the bench, expressly stated that the verdict was directed for the reason that appellant "did not file a claim which is required by law", as contended in the third ground of respondent's motion.

The fundamental issue in the case is therefore: Did the facts proved or offered to be proved at the trial show a compliance with the statute regarding filing of claims against municipalities? Sec. 15-7-76, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933. If not, did the facts proved or offered to be proved tend to show a waiver by the respondent of the defects, or alleged defects,

n appellant's written claim presented to the City Commission? In either case, if such was the inference to be drawn from the testimony offered, the Court was in error in making the rulings complained of in the first, second, third, seventh, eighth and ninth assignments of error.

The questions presented by the fourth, fifth and sixth assignments of error are as follows:

In an action against a city for damages due to the defective condition of a sidewalk of said city, may the plaintiff who prays judgment for damages in excess of the amount demanded in his written claim, presented to the City Commission as required by law, introduce evidence which shows the reason for his increased demand?

In the same case, may plaintiff show whether the sidewalk, at the point where the injury occurred, was free from cracks and irregularities?

ARGUMENT

The questions above stated may be best considered in the order suggested by the following outline:

I. The Complaint States a Cause of Action.

II. The Facts Proved or Offered to be Proved

A. There was sufficient evidence of an injury to appellant, caused by the negligence of respondent, to make a case for the jury.

B. Appellant's action is not barred by the statute regarding filing of claims.

III. Appellant Should Have Been Permitted to Show Cause for Increasing her Demand.

IV. Appellant Should Have Been Permitted to Show the Condition of the Sidewalk at the Place where the Injury Occurred.

* * * * *

I. The Complaint States a Cause of Action.

It is alleged clearly in the complaint that appellant suffered injuries which were proximately caused by the negligence of the respondent in leaving the hole in the sidewalk open, unrepaired and in a dangerous condition (Complaint Paras. II-VI). Compliance with the provisions of §§ 5-7-76, R. S. of U. 1933, which is prerequisite to the maintaining of an action in such cases, is explicitly stated in paragraph VII of the com-

defect was not only negligently permitted to remain unrepaired, but that it was created and wrought about, in the first place, by the acts of respondent's agents. Mr. Sturges testified that the hole in which appellant fell is situated upon a line about 12 or 14 inches wide, marked on each side by a seam in the pavement, and running northerly and southerly across the sidewalk from an outlet or water drain at the curb on the north to a manhole on the south; that this manhole has "The City Engineer" marked on it; that at the point where appellant fell it looks like common concrete put in a little hole about 18 inches long and 10 inches wide; and that the surface at that point was rough and the pavement surrounding the hole was smooth (Ab. 17, 18). The natural inference to be drawn from this testimony is that the defect was caused by installation or repairs to a portion of the city's water & sewage system. Certainly it is evidence of notice to the respondent of the existence of the defect. Even if this testimony were wholly lacking, the Court's attention is invited to

114 P. 311 and Bay v. Salt Lake City, 72 U. 412; 80 P. (2d) 886; 119 A.L.R. 153, which hold that constructive notice of the defect may be sufficient and that whether the city had notice of the defect, actual or constructive, is a matter for the jury to determine. In the case at bar, as in the Taylor case, supra, the sidewalk where the defect existed was "in the heart of the city, and at a place where there was much travel."

The testimony of appellant and Mr. Sturges is uncontradicted that appellant was injured by falling in the hole above described. On the question whether the facts proved or offered to be proved sufficiently showed that the respondent's negligence was a legal cause of appellant's injury, see 2 Restatement of the Law of Torts, § 451 and 32, Illustration 8.

Certainly, therefore, there was sufficient evidence of respondent's negligence, and that said negligence was the proximate cause of the injury to appellant, to take the case to the jury.

B. Appellant's action is not barred by the statute regarding filing of claims.

Article 12 of Chapter 7, Revised Statutes

of Utah, 1933, upon which respondent relies as a bar to the action is herewith set out in full:

ARTICLE 18

CLAIMS FOR DAMAGES

15-7-76. Time for Presenting--Contents--Condition Precedent to Action.

Every claim against a city or incorporated town for damages or injury, alleged to have been caused by the defective, unsafe, dangerous or obstructed condition of any street, alley, crosswalk, sidewalk, culvert or bridge of such city or town, or from the negligence of the city or town authorities in respect to any such street, alley, crosswalk, sidewalk, culvert or bridge, shall within thirty days after the happening of such injury or damage be presented to the board of commissioners or city council of such city, or board of trustees of such town, in writing, signed by the claimant or by some person authorized to sign the same, and properly verified, stating the particular time at which the injury happened, and designating and describing the particular place in which it occurred, and also particularly describing the cause and circumstances of the injury or damages, and stating, if known to claimant, the name of the person, firm or corporation, who created, brought about or maintained the defect, obstruction or condition causing such accident or injury, and the nature and probable extent of such injury, and the amount of damages claimed on account of the same; such notice shall be sufficient in the particulars above specified to enable the officers of such city or town to find the place and cause of such injury from the description thereof given in the notice itself without extraneous inquiry, and no action shall be maintained against any city or town for damages or injury to person or property,

unless it appears that the claim for which the action was brought was presented as aforesaid, and that such governing body did not within ninety days thereafter audit and allow the same. Every claim, other than claims above mentioned, against any city or town must be presented, properly itemized or described and verified as to correctness by the claimant or his agent, to the governing body within one year after the last item of such account or claim accrued, and if such account or claim is not properly or sufficiently itemized or described or verified, the governing body may require the same to be made more specific as to itemization or description, or to be corrected as to the verification thereof.

(C. L. 17, Paragraph 816.)

15-7-77. Failure to File, a Bar--Amendment of Claim.

It shall be a sufficient bar and answer to any action or proceeding against a city or town in any court for the collection of any claim mentioned in section 15-7-76, that such claim had not been presented to the governing body of such city or town in the manner and within the time specified in section 15-7-76; provided, that in case an account or claim, other than a claim made for damages on account of the unsafe, defective, dangerous or obstructed condition of any street, alley, crosswalk, way, sidewalk, culvert or bridge, is required by the governing body to be made more specific as to itemization or description, or to be properly verified, sufficient time shall be allowed the claimant to comply with such requirement.

(C. L. 17, Paragraph 817.)

Analysis of Sec. 15-7-76 above set forth

Copyright © 2013 J. Gregory Lawrence, providing legal research services to the public under the Utah State Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

78 requirements with

which the claimant must comply in order to bring himself within the provisions of the statute. These will be considered separately as follows:

1. The claim must be presented to the Board of City Commissioners within thirty days after the happening of the injury. The evidence is undisputed that appellant's injury happened on March 23, 1938, and that her claim was filed with the City Commission on April 12, 1938.

(Tr. 36, 38, 42, 43, 45; Ab. 9, 17, 19)

2. The claim must be in writing. This point is undisputed. (Exhibit "A"; Tr. 40; Ab. 24, 25).

3. The claim must be signed by the claimant or by some person authorized to sign the same. The testimony is undisputed on this point. (Tr. 31; Ab. 11)

4. The claim must state the particular time at which the injury happened. Appellant states in her claim that the injury happened "on March 23d at 9:30 AM." The claim is dated April 12, 1938. (Tr. 49; Ab. 24, 25) Surely,

respondent cannot contend that the omission to

state the year in the body of the claim is a fatal defect therein or a non-compliance with the statute. The claim should, of course, be read as a whole and in view of all the circumstances of the case. It is submitted that this is not only a substantial but a literal compliance with the terms of the statute. *Dunn v. Boise*, 45 Ida. 362, 202 P. 507; *Murphy v. City of St. Paul*, (Winn.) 153 N.W. 612. See also, *Connor v. Salt Lake City* and *Titus v. Montessano*, cited in next paragraph.

5. The claim must designate and describe the particular place in which the injury occurred. The words of appellant's claim in this respect are:

" . . . just West of 114 East End South, through a defect in the sidewalk at that location . . . " (Tr. 40; Ab. 25).

In this respect, see *Connor v. Salt Lake City*, 26 U. 242; 78 P. 479, in which the material part of the claim submitted by plaintiff read as follows:

"I hereby present to the City Council of Salt Lake City, a claim for damages for personal injuries by me sustained,

on or about January 15, 1902, while walking on the sidewalk at and along First West Street, between Seventh and Eighth South, in said city, through the negligence of said city in suffering and permitting a fence, fencing material and obstructions to be upon and along said sidewalk."

In holding the notice sufficient, both as to statements of time and place, the Court said:

In determining the sufficiency of such a notice the court is not bound by its terms alone, but may examine it in the light of extraneous evidence showing the situation and surroundings, and thus determine whether it sufficiently apprised the municipality of the location and nature of the alleged defect or obstruction which caused the accident. Doubtless the principal purpose of the notice is to afford the proper officers an opportunity to look into the facts and circumstances connected with the occurrence; to preserve the evidence of the existing conditions; to determine the liability of the municipality; and, in case liability exists, to effect a settlement without resort to litigation. When, therefore, such a notice is not misleading, but advises the municipality promptly of the accident and claim, so as to afford an opportunity for investigation, it is sufficiently definite, and satisfies the purpose and requirements of the law. It is true, in this case the accident is stated in the notice to have occurred "on or about January 15, 1902," the precise time not being stated, but the evidence shows that the occurrence did actually take place on the night of the day mentioned, and there is nothing to show that any other

accident happened on or about that time or at that place. Nor is it claimed or shown that any officer was in any way misled in any investigation because of the failure to state the exact time. The statement as to time, therefore, cannot be held to have been prejudicial. So the notice fails to state the exact spot where the accident occurred, simply stating that it happened on "First West between Seventh and Eighth South" streets; but both the notice and the evidence show that the obstruction was of such a character that no officer, in the exercise of ordinary care, could walk or drive along the street at the place stated without observing the dangerous condition of the sidewalk where the injury occurred. It is clear that the notice did not mislead the municipality, and, considering it in its entirety, we are of the opinion that it was sufficiently definite to subserve the purpose of the statute, and that it was properly admitted in evidence.

The case quoted from was decided under Section 112, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1898, which, so far as applicable, read:

"All claims . . . shall . . . be presented to the city council . . . properly verified, describing the time, place, cause, and extent of the damage or injury; . . ."

It is true that the statute applicable to the case at bar differs from the above, by reason of amendments. (Laws of Utah, 1905, Ch. 8; p. 5, enacting the statute in its present form). However, it has never been construed

in respect to the specific question here considered. The chief difference is that the present statute has been furnished with an express rule of construction:

" . . . such notice shall be sufficient in the particulars above specified to enable the officers of such city or town to find the place and cause of such injury from the description thereof given in the notice itself without extraneous inquiry . . ." - Section 15-7-73 above set forth.

It is submitted that this is the exact rule employed by the Court in the Connor case, *supra*, and that the claim in the case at bar measured by this rule satisfies the statute. Even if the amendment is held to require a more literal compliance with the statute, appellant's claim is in terms so much more detailed than that in the Connor case that there can be no doubt as to its sufficiency. See also *Titus v. Montesano*, 108 Ark. 606, 181 P. 43; *Hagle v. Billings*, 80 Mont. 178, 260 P. 717; *Savannah v. Holman*, 43 Ga. App. 14, 156 S.E. 64; *Buchmeier v. Davenport*, 138 Iowa 623, 116 N.W. 606; *East Chicago v. Gilbert*, 19 Ind. App. 613, 103 N.E. 29.

8. The claim must particularly describe

the cause and circumstances of the injury. The words of the claim are:

" . . . through a defect in the sidewalk at that location I was injured by falling and having certain bones fractured near my ankle . . . " (Tr. 40; Ab. 25).

The sufficiency of the claim in this respect should be determined by the same considerations which govern the matters of stating time and place. See the Connor case, *supra*. It is submitted that appellant's claim satisfies the above requirement. How could appellant have set forth the cause and circumstances of the injury more fully without introducing a great amount of unimportant detail, which could be no further protection to the municipality? Surely, a claimant is not required to plead a cause of action in his claim according to the legal rules of pleading. And the liability of the municipality is surely not determined from the face of the claim, itself, as though it were a negotiable instrument. The requirement that it must be sufficient to enable the officers of the city to find the defect without extraneous inquiry requires ~~something~~ more of the city than a mere

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