1940

## M. E. Hamilton v. Salt Lake City : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE INJURY.

"I was injured by falling and having certain bones fractured near my ankle." Again we submit that the statutory requirement is not met. "And also particularly describing the \* \* \* circumstances of the injury." The city is entitled to know what appellant claims in this regard. She testified that she stepped into a hole or cavity. Such information could not have been obtained from the notice. An examination of the place referred to in the notice could not reveal any information as to the circumstances. The only inquiry that could reveal the fact testified to would be one made of appellant. If the statute means anything it certainly means that claimant should describe the circumstances as she claims the same to be. To permit a claim as indefinite and uncertain as the above letter to stand would be to open the door to fraud. To disregard the requirement that the circumstances be described would be the equivalent of disregarding the requirement of filing a notice. It seems to us that one of the most important conditions required as a condition precedent to filing an action is



that claimant give notice of the circumstances because they can only be learned by the statement of the claimant.

### THE CAUSE OF THE INJURY.

“Through a defect in the sidewalk” does not meet the requirement “and also particularly describing the cause \* \* \* of the injury.” Here again evidence was offered that the cause of the injury was a hole or cavity. Could one suspect that a depression, or hole or cavity caused the injury described from the notice itself without “extraneous inquiry?” The word “defect” means “want or absence of something necessary for completeness or perfection,” Webster’s New International Dictionary. The city is entitled to know what the claimant claims the defect to be as well as to be advised where it is so that they may see for themselves. If this were the only failure to comply with the statute, it would invalidate the notice.

In the case of *Van Loan vs. Village of Lake Mills*, (Wis. 1894), 60 N. W. 710, the notice was very similar to the one at bar. It fixed the place of injury and described the cause as “while walking home on the sidewalk on Madison Street opposite the Moravian church, in company with Prof. Terry, owing to a defective sidewalk which caused me to fall. The court said:

“ ‘owing to a defective sidewalk on Madison Street opposite the Moravian church,’ might possibly answer for ‘the place where the damages occurred,’ if the defect itself was described so that the place could be found from the defect. But

there is no attempt to describe the defect. What was it? The question is not answered. This notice is a condition precedent to maintaining the suit, and it must have reasonable certainty to be of any use whatever. \* \* \* This notice is a blank, so far as any description of the defect is concerned, and that is the very thing the Village authorities wished, and had the right to be informed of. \* \* \*,”

In the case of *Nicholaus vs. City of Bridgeport*, (Conn. 1933) 167 Atl. 826, the assistant clerk of the city made out the notice and told plaintiff to sign it which he did without reading or learning its contents, and which notice read in part:

“For injuries the result of a fall on Chopsey Hill road about 500 feet from Fairview Avenue going east on December 24th at 3 p. m. \* \* \*,”

The conditions required by the Connecticut statute were far more general than those required by the Utah law. The law of Connecticut required a notice “of such injury and a general description of the same, and of the cause thereof and of the time and place of its occurrence” and also providing that no notice shall be held invalid or insufficient “by reason of an inaccuracy in \* \* \* stating the time, place or cause of its occurrence,” if there was no intention to deceive the city.

The court held at page 827:

“the giving of such notice as the statute requires is a condition precedent to the maintenance of the action, the obligation to comply (p. 828) with the statute rests upon the plaintiff, \* \* \* The

assistant city clerk could not waive compliance with the statute by accepting a defective notice or thereby stop the city from taking advantage of a failure to meet the statutory requirements.”

The cause of the injury was held to mean the defect or defective condition of the way which brought about the injury. The court held further that the above notice entirely failed to state the cause of the fall and hence the injury. Our statute reads “and also particularly describing the cause” as well as the circumstances of the injury. The particularity of the description must be sufficient to enable the city to find the “cause of such injury from the description thereof given in the notice itself without extraneous inquiry.” ,

In the case of *Merrill vs. City of Springfield*, (Mass. 1933) 187 N. E. 551, in considering a notice which referred to the cause of the injury thus: “My injuries were due to a defective, dangerous condition of said crosswalk in which snow and ice accumulated as a result of which I fell,” the court held:

“This notice was insufficient since the cause is not specific and ‘is equally consistent with an excavation in the way, and obstruction upon the way, an original mal-construction of the way, a worn, uneven and irregular condition of the surface of the earth, an accumulation of snow or ice or both, or any of the many varieties of defect which may exist in a way.’ ”

## THE TIME.

“On March 23rd at 9:30 A. M.” does not fulfill the condition “and stating the particular time at which the injury happened.” No year was specified. The notice must show that the injury happened within 30 days prior to the date of its proper filing with the city.

In the case of *Luke vs. City of Keokuk*, (Iowa 1926) 211 N. W. 583, the court considering a claim where the time was thus: “the evening of March 22nd”, the year of the alleged injury not being inserted in the notice, said at Page 585:

“In this case the notice that was served on the city contained no statement of the year in which the accident happened. It may have been the present year, or any year in the past. The statement is defective in this respect, and being a condition precedent to bringing of the action, we are of the opinion that it does not comply with the requirements of the statute, and hence was no notice.”

The notice in the instant case did not specify the year. As the above court observed, quoting from *White vs. Town of Stowe*, 54 Vt. 510, “so, if the notice does not state that the injury happened within 30 days next preceding its receipt, they (the city officials) might as well say that the injured party had no claim against the town.” Parol evidence is not permissible to supply the legal requirements of the notice. The claim is fatally defective.

## THE CLAIM WAS NOT VERIFIED.

The plaintiff concedes that the claim is defective in this regard and cites the case of *White vs. Heber City*, 82 Utah 547, 26 P. (2nd) 333, and also other authorities. The authorities almost unanimously hold defective claims that are not verified as required by the statute.

Appellant says at page 30 (Appellant's brief) that plaintiff's claim "was handled by respondent by the usual method adopted for the disposition of such claims." No evidence was offered in support of this assertion. Appellant further says that the reference of the plaintiff's alleged notice to a city department "together with the negotiations had between the (p. 31) respondent and the city attorney's office show conclusively that respondent had notice of the claim and took some action thereon." The author of this statement has not read the record. Nowhere is there any evidence of negotiations between the city attorney and the appellant or the city and any city department in relation to said notice or any other matter.

Again appellant says: (Appellant's brief, page 32) "The respondent's silence, together with the action taken regarding the claim, including the offer to pay appellant \$25.00 in settlement of respondent's liability, constitute a plain representation to appellant respecting the validity of her claim." Again appellant has failed to read the record. No evidence can be found respecting an offer in compromise. The only competent evidence

in the record is the silence of respondent and its failure and refusal to consider the letter as a claim.

Appellant was asked by her attorney if she had ever been notified that her claim had been allowed and she answered: (Tr. p. 32, Ab. p. 11) "A. No, excepting I went to see Mr. Irvine, and he said they wouldn't accept it, but he offered me \$25.00 to settle the case." Motion was made by respondent to strike the answer, (Tr. p. 32, Ab. p. 11-12) and the court ruled that the portion (Tr. p. 32, Ab. p. 11 and 12) "of the witness' answer where she said 'Mr. Irvine offered her \$25.00' is stricken from the record."

The only evidence then in the record is that "Mr. Irvine" told the appellant that the city would not accept her claim.

It is evident that "Mr. Irvine" could not act for the city without some authority to do so and no attempt was made to show that the city offered to make a compromise or did anything but refuse to accept the appellant's claim. "Mr. Irvine" is a stranger to this case and to the respondent in the action. The motion was properly granted.

The appellant urges that the city was not misled to its injury by the defective notice. (Appellant's brief p. 31) "It was not shown at the trial that the respondent was prejudiced in any way by any alleged insufficiency of the claim." The burden of proof rested on appellant. However no notice was given by the exhibit. In the case of *Rauber v. Wellsville*, (N. Y. 1903), 82



N. Y. S. 9, 11, the court in answering the argument that the city was not misled to its injury by a defective notice, said:

“It would be permissible for a claimant in the same manner to escape the consequences of failure to comply with the provisions of the statute in not stating the time of his alleged accident or the nature of his claim, and in fact we see no reason why he might not invoke the same doctrine to relieve him when he had failed to verify his claim, or had given verbal instead of written notice thereof, or had filed his claim 11 instead of 6 months after the accident happened. In each of these cases, in the place of compliance with the absolute statutory requirement, he might substitute evidence, no matter how loose and inaccurate, provided only a jury might be permitted to say therefrom that the municipality had somehow learned of the details of the accident, and therefore had not suffered any determinable injury from the omission \* \* \*.”

Claims must be verified as required by the statute before an action against the city can be maintained.

*Clawson vs. City of Ithica*, 212 N. Y. S. 433;

*Cole vs. City of Seattle*,  
(Wash. 1911) 116 Pac. 257.

In the case of *Spencer vs. City of Calipatria*, (Calif. 1935) 49 Pac. (2nd) 320 the court states at p. 321:

“No right to bring such an action exists independent of statutory enactment and, in giving such a right, the Legislature may prescribe the procedure and conditions under which it may be exercised. That such a claim must be verified is a

reasonable provision which should not be held to be ineffectual and meaningless.”

NO WAIVER RESULTED FROM A FAILURE OF CITY'S  
GOVERNING BODY TO POINT OUT DEFECTS IN LETTER  
FILED BY APPELLANT.

Appellant claims that a duty rests upon the city to point out the lack of verification of appellant's letter to the appellant if the city intended to rely upon it and failing to do so a waiver resulted.

In the case of *Chamberlain vs. City of Saginaw*, (Mich. 1903) 97 N. W. 156 where the silence of the city's governing body was urged as a waiver at p. 157 the court said:

“The council took no action whatever, except to receive the communication and refer it to a committee. There was no waiver, unless it was the duty of the council to notify the claimant that such notice was void, point out wherein it was void, and give her an opportunity to present a valid one. Public rights are not, in my judgment, to be thus waived. The liability of municipal corporations for defective streets and sidewalks is purely statutory, and he who attempts to fasten that liability upon the municipality is bound to strictly comply with the statute. A waiver can only be predicated upon some duty of the corporation to act. No such duty is imposed by the statute, expressly or impliedly. After giving the notice, both parties may rest, if they choose, and as they did in this case, without further action until the claimant sees fit to plant his suit.”

“To waive means in law, ‘to relinquish intentionally a known right, or intentionally to do an act inconsistent with claiming it’.”

*Ridgeway vs. City of Escanaba*, (Mich. 1908) 117 N. W. 550.

Appellant urges that the latter part of the claims statute supports his contention that the city should point out to appellant the failure to verify her claim if the city is to rely upon it. In this contention the appellant is entirely in error and has not carefully read the statute and cases cited to support the contention. Let us now analyze this argument.

Section 15-7-76, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, provides at the end thereof:

“Every claim, other than claims above mentioned, against any city or town must be presented, properly itemized or described and verified as to correctness by the claimant or his agent, to the governing body within one year after the last item of such account or claim accrued, and if such account or claim is not properly or sufficiently itemized or described or verified, the governing body may require the same to be made more specific as to itemization or description, or to be corrected as to the verification thereof.”

The first part of the statute refers solely to claims for injuries alleged to have been caused by defective streets and sidewalks.

Section 15-7-77, Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, provides:

“It shall be a sufficient bar and answer to any action or proceeding against a city or town

in any court for the collection of any claim mentioned in Section 15-7-76, that such claim had not been presented to the governing body of such city or town in the manner and within the time specified in Section 15-7-76; provided, that in case an account or claim, *other than a claim made for damages on account of the unsafe, defective, dangerous, or obstructed condition of any street, alley, crosswalk, way, sidewalk, culvert or bridge*, is required by the governing body to be made more specific as to itemization or description, or to be properly verified, sufficient time shall be allowed the claimant to comply with such requirement.” (Italics ours).

It will be noted that claims other than for streets and sidewalk injuries a year is allowed for filing and in the event such claims are not properly verified the city may require a corrected verification. This does not apply to claims relating to streets or sidewalks. *Dahl vs. S. L. C.*, 45 U. 544, 147 P. 622. The provision as to verification of claims relating to sidewalks and streets is absolute and unconditional, and reads; claims must be “properly verified”.

Appellant cites the following cases to support his contention that the city waived verification of his alleged notice of claim by its silence and failure to call the defects to the attention of the appellant.

*Bowman vs. Ogden City*,  
33 U. 196, 93 P. 561;

*Burton vs. Salt Lake City*,  
69 U. 186, 253 P. 443, 51 A. L. R. 364;

*Husbands vs. Salt Lake City*,  
92 U. 449, 69 P. (2nd) 491, at 499;

*Moran vs. Salt Lake City,*  
53 U. 407, 173 P. 702.

In the Bowman case (*supra*) a written notice was filed with the city December 21, 1903, claiming injury December 10, 1903. The notice was unverified. The city investigated the claim, considered it on its merits and adopted a report recommending payment of the same and \$5.00 was paid to and received by Bowman in satisfaction of the same. The court observed that, at page 204 (Utah), Chapter 19, p. 12, Sess. Laws 1903, the statute under which the notice of claim was filed, provided:

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